S210545

110.9

COPY ²

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Petitioner,

v.

KHRISTINE ELAINE EROSHEVICH et al.,

Defendants and Respondents.

) No. S _____

)

) (Court of Appeal

) Case No. B231411,

) LASC No.

) BA353907)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

SUPREME COURT
FILED

MAY - 8 2013

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

Original Proceedings

From The Los Angeles County Superior Court

Honorable Robert J. Perry, Judge



PETITION FOR REVIEW

JACKIE LACEY
District Attorney of
Los Angeles County

PHYLLIS C. ASAYAMA
State Bar No. 088919

BRENTFORD FERREIRA
State Bar No. 113762

SERENA R. MURILLO
State Bar No. 185297

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1) If a Court of Appeal reverses a trial court's ruling that the prosecution's evidence was insufficient as a matter of law pursuant to sections 1181 and 1385, upon reinstatement of the verdict, is the defendant barred from thereafter waiving jeopardy in order to have his motion for new trial heard by the trial court pursuant to section 1181? Or, as Justice Mosk suggests in his dissent, is it only the People, not the defendant, who are barred from requesting retrial?

2) May the Court of Appeal depart from the three statutorily authorized remedies available to a trial court pursuant to section 1181, namely granting a new trial, denying the motion, or modifying the verdict, in order to allow a trial court to dismiss and acquit a defendant pursuant to that motion?

APPROPRIATENESS OF REVIEW

It is submitted that review of the Court of Appeal's decision in the instant case should be ordered, consistent with rule 8.500(b), California Rules of Court because it is "necessary to secure uniformity of decision or to settle an important question of law."

There is no question that the People are barred from retrying a defendant in two definitive scenarios: after acquittal by jury and following a trial court's grant of a defendant's *mid-trial* motion for acquittal.²

(..continued)
the Penal Code.

2. In *Evans v. Michigan* (2012) 568 U.S. at p. ___ [133 S.Ct. 1069],

It is equally well settled that *after conviction*, the trial court may review the validity of the jury's decision pursuant to both section 1181, utilizing the "13th Juror" standard of review³, and section 1385, utilizing the "substantial evidence" standard of review.⁴ The granting of a new trial pursuant to section 1181 does not violate Federal and State Constitutional principles against being held twice in jeopardy for distinct reasons, discussed below. Alternatively, if a court grants an *acquittal after verdict* pursuant to section 1385, reversal of that order does not offend notions of jeopardy because the verdict is reinstated and there is no second trial.

Here, the Court of Appeal's order must be reversed because it has merged these principles and held that following reversal of a 1385 order and reinstatement of the verdict, a defendant may move for a new trial, but may not be retried. In fact, a successful motion would require dismissal and acquittal. As Justice Mosk soundly noted in his dissent on this issue, "by opting to move for a new trial, [the defendant] would, in effect, waive his

(..continued)

the United States Supreme Court held that a midtrial acquittal on the merits is an acquittal for double jeopardy purposes. In California, mid trial motions for acquittal are heard pursuant to Cal. Pen. C. § 1118.1 which states, "In a case tried before a jury, the court on motion of the defendant or on its own motion, at the close of the evidence on either side and before the case is submitted to the jury for decision, shall order the entry of a judgment of acquittal of one or more of the offenses charged in the accusatory pleading if the evidence then before the court is insufficient to sustain a conviction of such offense or offenses on appeal..." Furthermore, pursuant to Cal. Pen. C. § 687, "[n]o person can be subjected to a second prosecution for a public offense for which he has once been prosecuted and convicted or acquitted."

3. *People v. Veitch* (1979) 89 Cal.App.3d 722, 827-828 (hereafter, *Veitch*); *People v. Robarge* (1953) 41 Cal.2d 628.

4. *People v. Hatch* (2000) 22 Cal.4th 260, 272-273 (hereafter,

Double Jeopardy rights...the People are barred from a retrial, not the defendant.” (Slip Opn. at p. 37.)

For purposes of a "new trial" motion pursuant to section 1181, retrial after conviction does not violate the defendant's right against successive prosecutions for the same offense because application for a second trial must, and can only be, made by the defendant himself.⁵ Said application is thus construed as a waiver of jeopardy. (*Porter v. Superior Court* (2009) 47 Cal.4th 125, 136 (hereafter, *Porter*) ["In filing a motion for new trial, petitioner impliedly waived any double jeopardy protections he might have had under state law, just as if he had consented to a mistrial."]; *United States v. Alvarez-Moreno* (9th Cir. 2011) 657 F.3d 896, 900 (hereafter, *Alvarez-Moreno*) ["But a defendant who appeals and is found entitled to a new trial has waived his right to claim double jeopardy at the second trial. [Citation.] In other words, by appealing or collaterally attacking his conviction on the basis of legal error, the defendant is taken to have consented to being retried should he succeed."]; *United States v. Smith* (1947) 331 U.S. 469, 474 [67 S.Ct. 1330, 91 L.Ed. 1610] ["For it is such request which obviates any later objection the defendant might make on the ground of double jeopardy. [Citations.]"].)

(..continued)

Hatch).

5. "When a verdict has been rendered or a finding made against the defendant, the court may, *upon his application*, grant a new trial, in the following cases only..." (Cal. Pen. C. § 1181.) The same cannot be said of motions pursuant to section 1118.1 ["the court on motion of the defendant or on its own motion"] or section 1385 ["[t]he judge or magistrate may, either of his or her own motion or upon the application of the prosecuting attorney"]. (Cal. Pen. C. §§ 1118.1, 1385.)

In fact, without the defendants' waiver, the *trial court* would violate the Defendants' right against Double Jeopardy if it were to order a new trial on its own motion. (*Alvarez-Moreno, supra*, 657 F.3d at p. 901; *See also, Gonzalez v. Municipal Court* (1973) 32 Cal.App.3d 706, 712-713; *Mourmouris v. Superior Court* (1981) 115 Cal.App.3d 956, 962.)

Alternatively, for purposes of a "legal acquittal"⁶ pursuant to section 1385, notions of jeopardy are not violated because *after a verdict*, reversal of the trial court's ruling would not result in a second trial, but rather reinstatement of the jury's verdict. (*People v. Salgado* (2001) 88 Cal.App.4th 5, 13 (hereafter, *Salgado*), review denied July 25, 2001, 2001 Cal. LEXIS 5166 ["But with the jury's guilty verdict in this case, a successful appeal will not require retrial."]; *United States v. Wilson* (1975) 420 U.S. 332, 344-345 (hereafter, *Wilson*) [95 S.Ct. 1013, 43 L.Ed.2d 232] ["So long as the verdict of guilty remains as a datum, the correction of errors of law in attaching the proper legal consequences to it do not trench upon the constitutional prohibition."].)

Indeed, this is the very reason that section 1385 dismissals, *post verdict*⁷, are subject to appeal by the Government in the first instance.

6. Hereafter, "legal acquittal" will be used in reference to an acquittal entered by a trial court or court of appeal upon consideration of whether a jury's verdict was insufficient as a matter of law utilizing the substantial evidence standard wherein "the record must show that the court viewed the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution and concluded that no reasonable trier of fact could find guilt beyond a reasonable doubt." (*Hatch, supra*, 22 Cal. 4th at p. 273.) Furthermore, section 1385 states, "[t]he judge or magistrate may, either of his or her own motion or upon the application of the prosecuting attorney, and in furtherance of justice, order an action to be dismissed." (Cal. Pen. C. § 1385.)

7. Compare *United States v. Martin Linen Supply Co.* (1977) 430

(*Wilson, supra*, 420 U.S. at pp. 344-345 ["Since reversal on appeal would merely reinstate the jury's verdict, review of such an order does not offend the policy against multiple prosecution."]; *People v. Statum* (2002) 28 Cal.4th 682, 693.)

This court has itself made great strides in clarifying the methods, reasons, standard of review and remedies which must be employed and adhered to by trial courts in order for them to unambiguously grant either motion. (*Porter, supra*, 47 Cal.4th 125; *Hatch, supra*, Cal.4th 260; *People v. Watkins* (2012) 55 Cal.4th 999; *People v. Lagunas* (1994) 8 Cal.4th 1030; *People v. Trevino* (1985) 39 Cal.3d 667.) However, in the case at hand, despite the fact that *after guilty verdicts* both defendants applied for a new trial pursuant to section 1181 and urged the trial court to acquit pursuant to section 1385, the trial court acquitted both defendants pursuant to section 1385 in abrupt rulings that blended both motions and only clearly entered a legal acquittal based upon the "substantial evidence standard"⁸ as to Defendant Stern. In addition, the trial court granted

(..continued)

U.S.564 [97 S. Ct. 1349, 51 L. Ed. 2d 642] (hereafter, *Martin-Linen*); *Sanabria v. United States* (1978) 437 U.S. 54 [98 S. Ct. 2170, 57 L. Ed. 2d 43]; *Smalis v. Pennsylvania* (1986) 476 U.S. 140 [106 S. Ct. 1745, 90 L. Ed. 2d 116]; *Smith v. Massachusetts* (2005) 543 U.S. 462 [125 S. Ct. 1129, 160 L. Ed. 2d 914]; *Fong Foo v. United States* (1962) 369 U.S. 141 [82 S. Ct. 671, 7 L. Ed. 2d 629]; *People v. Valenti* (1957) 49 Cal.2d 199, which pertain to *mid-trial* acquittals, *i.e.* before a jury's verdict, and are thus not subject to appeal by the Government.

8. This refers to the standard of review which must be employed by trial courts in considering whether a jury's verdict is insufficient as a matter of law wherein "the record must show that the court viewed the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution and concluded that no reasonable trier of fact could find guilt beyond a reasonable doubt." (*Hatch, supra*, 22 Cal. 4th at p. 273.)

Defendant Stern's motion for new trial by applying the substantial evidence standard of review in lieu of sitting as a "13th Juror," and failed to address all grounds raised in the motion. With regard to Defendant Eroshevich, the trial court entered an acquittal without having applied the "substantial evidence standard," and failed to address her motion for new trial at all.

The People have no quarrel with the Court of Appeal's unanimous opinion that substantial evidence supported the verdicts, that the trial court's decision must be reversed, and that the verdict as to Defendant Stern must be reinstated. (Slip Opinion (hereafter Slip Opn.), at p. 22.)

At issue is only the Court of Appeal's majority opinion,⁹ wherein the court goes beyond reinstatement of the verdict to insist that the trial court reconsider the issues raised in Defendant Stern's new trial motion. Thus, they create an exception which swallows the rule.

In section IV, subdivision C, Part 3 of the Court of Appeal's opinion entitled, "Post-remittitur proceedings," the majority outlined what the trial court may consider *after* reinstatement of the verdict.

//

//

//

9. Justice Mosk succinctly dissented from the majority's view on this issue. "I have difficulty with the majority's conclusion in Section IV. C. 3. The District Attorney cogently questions why, upon reinstatement of the verdict, Mr. Stern may not reinitiate his Penal Code section 1181 motion if he so chooses, and receive a new trial if the trial court grants the motion acting as a so-called "13th juror," or on other grounds applicable under that provision. By opting to move for a new trial, Mr. Stern would, in effect, waive his Double Jeopardy rights. [Citations omitted] As the District Attorney suggests, the People are barred from retrial, not the defendant." (Slip Op. at p. 37.)

the trial court could grant the new trial motion after reweighing the evidence (acting as the so-called "13th juror") subject to the following double jeopardy analysis...[¶]...***But if the trial court grants Mr. Stern's new trial motion, the case against him must be dismissed on double jeopardy grounds.***
Mr. Stern may not be retried.

(Slip Opn. at pp. 30, 33, *italics added.*)

Because the Court of Appeal has reversed the trial court's finding of legal insufficiency pursuant to section 1385 as to Defendant Stern and the trial court's section 1385 dismissal in favor of Defendant Eroshevich, the only available remedy is reinstatement of the verdicts as to both defendants.

Instead, a majority of the Court of Appeal thereafter invites the trial court to engage in a pointless legal endeavor -- motion for new trial -- where the only remedy available in this case *is* the prohibited new trial.¹⁰ To worsen matters, the reviewing court has held that if the trial court grants the new trial motion by applying a "13th Juror" analysis- the case must be dismissed. (Slip Opn. at pp. 30, 33.) This result unfairly subverts the People's proverbial "one bite at the apple," by eviscerating guilty verdicts supported by substantial evidence while allowing the Defendant to gain immunity from further prosecution for having successfully obtained an *earlier and erroneous* acquittal by the trial court.

10. Pursuant to section 1181, the trial court may grant a new trial, modify the verdict, or deny the motion. It may not acquit the defendant. (Cal. Pen. Code, §1181; *Porter, supra*, 47 Cal.4th at p. 133; *People v. Serrato* (1973) 9 Cal.3d 753, 762 (hereafter, *Serrato*); *Veitch, supra*, 89 Cal.App.3d at pp. 726-727.) Here, based upon the charges, modification of the verdict is not available because there is no lesser degree, or lesser included. Thus, the court may only deny the motion or grant a new trial, and it has already outlined its pre-disposition to grant a new trial.

By simply truncating 'retrial' from section 1181's list of available remedies, the majority's opinion unnecessarily fashions an outcome which allows Defendant Stern to be acquitted of all charges pursuant to a new trial motion, when he could not have been acquitted pursuant to a section 1385 order. "[D]efendant has no legitimate claim to benefit from an error of law when that error could be corrected without subjecting him to a second trial before a second trier of fact." (*Salgado, supra*, 88 Cal.App.4th at p. 16, citing *Wilson, supra*, 420 U.S. at p. 345.)

This remedy misconstrues both the essence of a new trial motion and the logic behind precluding government retrials. The Double Jeopardy Clause forbids a second trial for the purpose of affording the prosecution another opportunity to supply evidence that it failed to muster in the first proceeding. (*Tibbs v. Florida* (1982) 457 U.S. 31, 41-42 [102 S.Ct. 2211, 72 L.Ed.2d 652].) For this reason, when a reversal rests upon the ground that the prosecution has failed to produce sufficient evidence to prove its case, the Double Jeopardy Clause **bars the prosecutor from making a second attempt at conviction**. (*Id.* at pp. 41-42.) However, nothing in the Double Jeopardy Clause precludes **the defendant** from requesting the court to review the evidence as a "13th Juror" after the verdict has been reinstated. As this court noted in *Hatch, supra*, 22 Cal.4th at p. 276, "the double jeopardy focus ... is not on the appeal but on the relief that is requested." (*Hatch, supra*, 22 Cal. 4th at p. 276, citing *Wilson, supra*, 420 U.S. at p. 346 [95 S. Ct. at p. 1023].)

The Court of Appeal's hybrid remedy is in contravention of current state and federal authority for the following three reasons: First, it contradicts established precedent that upon a *defendant's application*, request for a new trial is an implied waiver of jeopardy. (*Porter, supra*, 47

Cal.4th at p. 136.) Second, it permits acquittal as a permissible remedy pursuant to section 1181. (*Id. at p. 136; Serrato, supra*, 9 Cal.3d at p. 762; *Veitch, supra*, 89 Cal.App.3d at pp. 726-727, review den.) Third, said result incongruously allows Defendant Stern to be acquitted pursuant to a "13th Juror" standard of review, pursuant to section 1181, when the Court of Appeal itself has held that the trial court was in error and could NOT be acquitted pursuant to the more stringent "substantial evidence" standard of review required for a section 1385 acquittal. (*Hatch, supra*, 22 Cal.4th at p. 271; *People v. Watkins, supra*, 55 Cal.4th at p. 1019, fn. 11.)

Moreover, as a matter of policy, the remedy creates a new and untenable procedural outcome for a perfectly predictable scenario -- that which occurs when a trial court combines motions pursuant to sections 1181 and 1385 by utilizing the substantial evidence standard for both. Thus, it allows trial courts to guarantee an acquittal and evade meaningful review, while rendering motions for new trial pursuant to section 1181 meaningless.

The Court of Appeal has gone beyond the permissible scope of legal remedies available upon a post-verdict reversal of a legal acquittal and even farther toward muddying the waters in an already turbid area of law which this Court has made great strides in clarifying since the United States Supreme Court's opinion in *United States v. Burks* (1978) 437 U.S. 1 [98 S.Ct. 2146, 57 L.Ed.2d 1]. Quite simply, if the Court of Appeal insists that the new trial motion be heard, either defendant Stern, like defendant Eroshevich, impliedly waives jeopardy upon *his application* for retrial, or he doesn't. If he asks for retrial, there is no double jeopardy bar upon hearing his motion. If he doesn't, then the trial court has no basis for hearing it.

The verdicts should be reinstated. Thereafter, nothing precludes Defendant Stern from filing a motion to reduce the charge pursuant to section 17, subdivision (b), filing an appeal, or filing a Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus. Alternatively, as Justice Mosk points out in his dissenting opinion on this issue, upon reinstatement of the verdict, Defendant Stern may reinitiate his section 1181 motion as it is the People who are barred from a retrial, not the defendant.

The People herein file this Petition for Review, requesting review of the opinion of the Court of Appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A

Facts Underlying the Jury's Guilty Verdict

The Court of Appeal thoroughly set forth the procedural history and facts of the case in its Slip Opinion. (Slip Opn. at pp. 3-21.) The People incorporate the procedural history and facts as stated by the Court of Appeal in the aforementioned pages, herein. The facts giving rise to the offenses charged against Defendants Stern and Eroshevich are not relevant to the issue raised in this petition as the People are not requesting review of the Court of Appeal's decision to reverse the trial court's finding of insufficiency of evidence as a matter of law.

B

Facts Underlying Petition for Review

After a jury trial, Defendants Stern and Eroshevich, were each convicted by jury of two felony counts: Count 1, conspiracy to obtain controlled substances by fraud, deceit or misrepresentation or concealment

of a material fact between September 11, 2006 and February 8, 2007;¹¹ and Count 3, Conspiracy to unlawfully give false names or addresses for prescriptions for controlled substances between June 5, 2004 and September 10, 2006.¹² (Slip. Opn. at pp. 3-4.) In addition, Defendant Eroshevich was convicted of two other felonies: Count 7, obtaining controlled substances by fraud or misrepresentation in violation of Health and Safety Code section 11173, subdivision (a); And count 9, giving a false name or address for a controlled substance prescription in violation of Health and Safety Code section 11174. (Slip Opn. at p. 4.)

On November 29, 201 Defendant Stern, himself an attorney, filed a motion requesting the trial court to dismiss counts 1 and 3 pursuant to section 1385, alleging that there was no substantial evidence supporting the jury's finding that he lacked good faith to believe that his method of acquiring controlled substances for Vicki Lynn Marshall, also known as celebrity figure, Anna Nicole Smith, was legal. The motion also claimed that he was "selectively targeted" for prosecution in violation of his due process rights. On the same date, Defendant Stern also filed a new trial motion contending, in addition to the grounds argued in his invitation to dismiss, that a Deputy District Attorney committed prejudicial misconduct

11. Count 1 is a violation of Health and Safety Code section 11173, subdivision (a), which states, "No person shall obtain or attempt to obtain controlled substances, or procure or attempt to procure the administration of or prescription for controlled substances, (1) by fraud, deceit, misrepresentation, or subterfuge; or (2) by the concealment of a material fact."

12. Count 3 is a violation of Health and Safety Code section 11174, which states, "No person shall, in connection with the prescribing, furnishing, administering, or dispensing of a controlled substance, give a false name or false address."

in argument to the jury, and that the trial court should reduce the two felony conspiracy verdicts to misdemeanors. (Slip Opn. at p. 5.)

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