IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

VS.

KHRISTINE EROSHEVICH et al.,

Defendants and Respondents.

S210545 2 CRIM. B231411

LASC BA353907

SUPREME COURT
FILED

MAY 20 2013

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

APPEAL FROM THE JUDGMENT OF
THE SUPERIOR COURT OF LOS ANGELES COUNTY
THE HONORABLE ROBERT J. PERRY, JUDGE PRESIDING

Deputy

ANSWER TO THE PETITION FOR REVIEW OF THE DISTRICT ATTORNEY OF LOS ANGELES COUNTY

on behalf of

KHRISTINE EROSHEVICH

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

ARGUMENT

I.

RECONSIDERATION OF PEOPLE V. HATCH IS MADE NECESSARY BY EVANS V. MICHIGAN, WHICH HOLDS, CONSISTENT WITH THE HIGH COURT'S PRIOR HOLDINGS, THAT A JUDICIAL DETERMINATION THAT GOES TO A CRIMINAL DEFENDANT'S GUILT OR INNOCENCE CONSTITUTES A JUDICIAL ACQUITTAL AND TRIGGERS PROTECTION UNDER THE DOUBLE JEOPARDY CLAUSE OF THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION

In People v. Hatch (2000) 22 Cal.4th 260, this Court held that dismissals pursuant to Penal Code section 1385 should not be construed as dismissals for legal insufficiency unless the record clearly showed that the court viewed the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution and concluded that no reasonable trier of fact could find guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. (Id., at p. 273.) Thus, according to Hatch, section 1385 dismissals are not judicial acquittals for purposes of the Double Jeopardy Clause unless the court applied the procedurally correct substantial evidence standard. (Ibid.) Hatch reasoned that this requirement was appropriate because "section 1385 dismissals often are not based on the insufficiency of the evidence as a matter of law." (Ibid.) Hatch quite clearly held the relevant determinative in deciding whether a judicial ruling constituted a judicial acquittal turns on whether the trial court applied the procedurally correct standard of review.

In Evans v. Michigan, supra, the United States Supreme Court held that the Double Jeopardy Clause bars retrial following an erroneously granted judicial acquittal based on the prosecution's failure to

prove an element of the offense that the prosecution was *not* required to prove. (*Evans*, *supra*, 133 S.Ct. at p. 1073.)

In so holding, *Evans* confirmed that the relevant distinction between court rulings that constitute judicial acquittals that trigger protection under the Double Jeopardy Clause of the United States Constitution and those that do not is between judicial determinations that go to a criminal defendant's lack of criminal culpability and those that hold that a defendant, although criminally culpable, may not be punished because of a supposed procedural error. The former constitute judicial acquittals; the latter are not.

In its analysis, *Evans*' relied upon the logic and principles underlying Double Jeopardy jurisprudence. The Court noted that in *Fong Foo v. United States* (1962) 369 U.S. 141, 143, it recognized that the Double Jeopardy Clause bars retrial following a judicial acquittal even when the acquittal is based on an error. (*Evans, supra*, 133 S.Ct. at p. 1074.) *Evans* observed that the Court has since applied *Fong Foo*'s principle broadly and that it has "defined an acquittal to encompass *any* ruling that the prosecution's proof is insufficient to establish criminal liability for an offense." (*Evans, supra*, 133 S.Ct. at pp. 1074-1075; *Fong Foo v. United States* (1962) 369 U.S. 141, 143; emphasis added.)

The Court pointed out that its decisions have treated what Evans termed procedural dismissals (rulings based on errors of law unrelated to guilt) differently from acquittals based on substantive rulings (rulings related to the question of guilt) and explained that this is so because retrial following a merits-related ruling such as an acquittal presents the risk that the government with its superior resources will wear

down the defendant and would disturb the defendant's expectation of repose. Procedural dismissals, on the other hand, for matters unrelated to a determination of factual guilt, carry no expectation of finality. (*Evans*, *supra*, 133 S.Ct. at pp. 1075-1076; internal quotation marks omitted.)

Evans explained that a specific logic drives the application of these principles to its consideration of judicial acquittals and that logic is tied to the law's treatment of jury acquittals. There is a settled understanding that a jury verdict of acquittal precludes retrial or appeal. Evans reasoned that unless antecedent legal errors are reviewable in the context of jury acquittals there is no way for them to be reviewable in the context of judicial acquittals. Evans rejected the argument that the Double Jeopardy Clause must leave open a way to correct legal errors. (Evans, supra, 133 S.Ct. at p. 1080-1081; internal quotation marks omitted; see State v. Little 2013 Tenn. LEXIS 309, at p.29 fn.6 [No. E2009-01796-SC-R11-CD, decided March 22, 2013], Evans "[treats] bench acquittals the same as jury acquittals for double jeopardy purposes.")

The Court defined an acquittal as "any ruling that the prosecution's proof is insufficient to establish criminal liability for an offense"; "a ruling by the court that the evidence is insufficient to convict"; "a factual finding [that] necessarily establish[es] the criminal defendant's lack of criminal culpability;" and "any other "rulin[g] which relate[s] to the ultimate question of guilt or innocence." (*Evans*, *supra*, 133 S.Ct. at p. 1074-1075; internal quotation marks omitted.)

Evans explained that the "relevant distinction is between judicial determinations that go to the criminal defendant's lack of criminal culpability and those that hold that a defendant, although criminally

culpable, may not be punished because of a supposed procedural error." (Evans, supra, 133 S.Ct. at p. 1077; internal quotation marks omitted.) The Court emphasized that "[c]ulpability (i.e., the ultimate question of guilt or innocence) is the touchstone, not whether any particular elements were resolved or whether the determination of nonculpability was legally correct." (Evans, supra, 133 S.Ct. at p. 1077; internal quotation marks omitted.)

Evans reasoned that the analysis "turns not on the form of the trial court's action, but rather whether it serve[s] substantive purposes or procedural ones." (Evans, supra, 133 S.Ct. at p. 1078; internal quotation marks omitted.) In the case before the Court, the State of Michigan argued that the trial court did not use the word "acquit" in its remarks. Of this argument, the Court said: "Here we know the trial court acquitted Evans, not because it incanted the word 'acquit' (which it did not), but because it acted on its view that the prosecution had failed to prove its case." (Evans, supra, 133 S.Ct. at p. 1078; internal quotation marks omitted.)

Evans explained that the fact that the acquittal may result from "erroneous interpretations of governing legal principles affects the accuracy of that determination, but it does not alter its essential character"; in short, a "mistaken acquittal is an acquittal nonetheless." (Evans, supra, 133 S.Ct. at pp. 1073-1074; internal quotation marks, citations omitted.)

Evans establishes that for Double Jeopardy purposes Hatch's reliance on a procedurally correct review standard, i.e., on an error of law unrelated to guilt, as the measure of whether a ruling constitutes a judicial acquittal is not constitutionally correct. The constitutionally relevant distinction is whether the judicial determination goes to culpability.

"Culpability (i.e., the ultimate question of guilt or innocence) is the touchstone." (Evans, supra, 133 S.Ct. at p. 1077; internal quotation marks omitted.) Evans took note that the Court's relevant prior cases "all instruct that an acquittal due to insufficient evidence precludes retrial, whether the court's evaluation of the evidence was correct or not, and regardless of whether the court's decision flowed from an incorrect antecedent ruling of law." (Evans, supra, 133 S.Ct. at pp. 1075-1076; internal quotation marks omitted; citations omitted.)

Moreover, the respective procedural postures of the cases in *Evans* and *Hatch* do not affect the application of *Evans* here. In *Evans*, the trial court entered a directed verdict of acquittal after the prosecution rested its case based on the court's view, albeit mistaken, that the prosecution had failed to prove an element of the offense. In *Hatch*, the trial court dismissed the case pursuant to Penal Code section 1385 after the jury declared itself deadlocked. (*People v. Hatch, supra*, 22 Cal.4th at p. 266.) The trial court in the present case also dismissed the action against Dr. Eroshevich and Mr. Stern pursuant to section 1385.

Nothing in *Evans* suggests that the logic and principles driving its reasoning – that, for Double Jeopardy purposes, the constitutionally required determinative is whether the court's ruling related to culpability or to a matter unrelated to guilt – are limited to judicial rulings made before the case is submitted to the jury. In fact, in resolving the specific question before it, *Evans* relied on *Arizona v. Rumsey* (1984) 467 U.S. 203, a capital case, in which the trial court in a bench trial misconstrued a statute during the penalty phase of the trial and found the prosecution had failed to prove its case. The state appealed and won a

death sentence on remand. In this post-verdict, post-appeal, post-retrial procedural scenario, the Court, in *Rumsey*, held that retrial of the penalty phase violated the Double Jeopardy Clause. (*Arizona v. Rumsey*, *supra*, 467 U.S. at p. 211 ("Reliance on an error of law, . . does not change the double jeopardy effects of a judgment that amounts to an acquittal on the merits.").) (*Evans*, *supra*, 133 S.Ct. at pp. 1073, 1076-1077.) Accordingly, to the extent that *Hatch* may be read to suggest that Double Jeopardy jurisprudence treats pre- and post-jury submission judicial rulings differently and that *Evans* does not apply to Penal Code section 1385 rulings, *Hatch* is constitutionally incorrect. *Evans* expressly rejected any contention that the Double Jeopardy Clause must itself leave open a way of correcting legal errors. (*Evans*, *supra*, 133 S.Ct. at p. 1081.)

Burks v. United States (1978) 437 U.S. 1 held that the Fifth Amendment precludes retrial if a court determines the evidence at trial was insufficient to support a conviction as a matter of law. The rule of Burks applies to trials conducted in California courts. (People v. Pierce (1979) 24 Cal.3d 199, 210; People v. Hatch, supra, 22 Cal.4th at p. 272.)

II.

THE TRIAL COURT'S RULING DISMISSING THE CONSPIRACY COUNTS AGAINST DR. EROSHEVICH WAS BASED ON THE PROSECUTION'S FAILURE TO PROVE CRIMINAL CULPABILITY AND WAS BY DEFINITION AN ACQUITTAL ON THE MERITS FOR PURPOSES OF THE DOUBLE JEOPARDY CLAUSE

The trial court dismissed the conspiracy counts (counts 1, 3) against Dr. Eroshevich. In doing so, the court stated:

Now, having dismissed counts 1 and 3 against Howard Stern, I address the issue of Eroshevich. I don't think there was an agreement between the two of them to violate the law, and I think the conspiracy counts as to Eroshevich, even though she is [sic] a doctor should have known about the C.U.R.E.S. system, I don't think the conspiracy counts can stand, and so I dismiss those as well as to Eroshevich. (48RT 15329:22-15330:1.)

Under California law, a conspiracy is an agreement between two or more persons to do some unlawful act, accompanied by an overt act done in furtherance of the conspiracy. (*People v. Van Eyk* (1961), 56 Cal. 2d 471, 478.) It is the agreement, not the object of the agreement, that is punishable. (*Pinkerton v. United States* (1945) 328 U.S. 640, 644.)

Here, when the trial court said, "I don't think there was an agreement between [Dr. Eroshevich and Mr. Stern] to violate the law," and dismissed the conspiracy counts as to Dr. Eroshevich, the court's assessment that the prosecution had failed to prove that Dr. Eroshevich was

a party to an agreement with Mr. Stern went to the gravamen of the crime of conspiracy. The court's ruling was directed at an evaluation of the prosecution's evidence that Dr. Eroshevich was party to an agreement and the conclusion that the evidence was insufficient.

The trial court's statement thus revealed that the court had resolved the question of Dr. Eroshevich's culpability as a matter of the sufficiency of the evidence as to her participation in an agreement, and not on procedural grounds unrelated to guilt. The trial court evaluated the prosecution's evidence and acted on its view that the prosecution had failed to prove its case that Dr. Eroshevich was party to an agreement.

The court's ruling constituted a judicial acquittal on the merits for Double Jeopardy purposes.

III.

PETITIONER'S CONTENTION THAT REINSTATEMENT OF THE VERDICT IS THE ONLY REMEDY AVAILABLE IN THIS CASE IS NOT SUPPORTED BY ITS CITED AUTHORITIES

Petitioner argues that upon reversal of the trial court's ruling dismissing counts 1 and 3, the only available remedy is the reinstatement of the verdicts. (PRV, at pp. 17-26.) The District Attorney primarily supports its contention with the following authorities: footnote 9 in *Evans v. Michigan*, (2013) 568 U.S. ___; 133 S.Ct. 1069; 185 L.Ed2d 124; *United States v. Wilson* (1975) 420 U.S. 332; and *People v. Salgado* (2001) 88 Cal.App.4th 5. (PRV, at pp. 17-22.)

But, as will be shown, the legal issue before the courts in these cases is whether the prosecution had the right to appeal in the context of Double Jeopardy jurisprudence. The issue under consideration was not whether verdict reinstatement was the *only* remedy available to respondents in the present procedural context.

So, for example, *Evans* presented footnote 9 in the context of a prosecution claim that mid-trial judicial acquittals deny "the prosecution a full and fair opportunity to presents its evidence to the jury, while the defendant reaps a 'windfall' from the trial court's unreviewable error." (*Evans v. Michigan*, *supra*, 133 S.Ct. at p. 1081.) *Evans* noted that the states could disallow such a practice, explaining that: "Many jurisdictions, including the federal system, allow or encourage their courts to defer consideration of a motion to acquit until after the jury returns a verdict, which mitigates double jeopardy concerns." (*Ibid.*) In that context, footnote 9 was attached to the last quoted sentence and read: "If a court

grants a motion to acquit after the jury has convicted, there is no double jeopardy barrier to an appeal by the government from the court's acquittal, because reversal would result in reinstatement of the jury verdict of guilt, not a new trial. (*United States v. Wilson*, 420 U. S. 332, 95 S. Ct. 1013, 43 L. Ed. 2d 232 (1975)." (*Ibid.*)

So, footnote 9 was written to inform the discussion regarding the prosecution's right to appeal in that procedural context and does not support petitioner's contention that the Court of Appeal was wrong in its identification of other post-remittitur proceedings.

The focus in *Wilson* was also upon the government's right to appeal in the context of Double Jeopardy jurisprudence, as the following excerpt establishes.

A system permitting review of all claimed legal errors would have symmetry to recommend it and would avoid the release of some defendants who have benefited from instructions or evidentiary rulings that are unduly favorable to them. But we have rejected this position in the past, and we continue to be of the view that the policies underlying the Double Jeopardy Clause militate against permitting the Government to appeal after a verdict of acquittal. Granting the Government such broad appeal rights would allow the prosecutor to seek to persuade a second trier of fact of the defendant's guilt after having failed with the first; it would permit him to re-examine the weaknesses in his first presentation in order to strengthen the second; and it would disserve the defendant's legitimate interest in the finality of a verdict of acquittal. These interests, however, do not apply in the case of a postverdict ruling of law by a trial judge. Correction of an error of law at that stage would not grant the prosecutor a new trial or subject the defendant to the harassment traditionally associated with prosecutions. We therefore conclude that when a judge rules in favor of the defendant after a verdict of guilty has been

entered by the trier of fact, the Government may appeal from that ruling without running afoul of the Double Jeopardy Clause. (*United States v. Wilson, supra*, 420 U.S. at pp. 352-353.)

Nothing in *Wilson* supports Petitioner's contention that reinstatement of the verdict is the only available remedy.

The right of the government to appeal in a criminal case was also at issue in *Salgado*, which relied upon *Wilson* in holding that the government had the right to appeal a postverdict action by the trial court in the context of Double Jeopardy jurisprudence because the prosecution could be resolved by entering a judgment on the verdict. (*People v. Salgado, supra*, 88 Cal.App.4th at pp. 12-13.)

Nothing in Salgado supports Petitioner's contention that reinstatement of the verdict is the only available remedy.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons herein set forth, Dr. Eroshevich respectfully requests that the issues set forth above be addressed if this Court does grant review in this case.